## Intergenerational Justice and the Need for a Sustainable Society: What are the Implications for Rawlsian

## Liberalism?

Brian McBride BSc

OU Personal Reference Number W9479728

A dissertation submitted for the degree of MA in Philosophy in September 2006.

#### ABSTRACT

Sustainability is a topic of growing political significance because of increasing concerns that human activity is damaging the planet. This motivates an inquiry into whether democratic liberalism as set out in Rawls's justice as fairness supports sustainability. The main ideas of sustainability are examined and it is suggested that it be conceived as a topic of intergenerational justice. The concept of intergenerational justice is defended against several criticisms including the charges that future persons do not exist and therefore cannot have rights, that intergenerational justice is incompatible with justice for contemporaries, and that the non-identity problem entails that we have no obligations to future persons. Justice as fairness is described briefly and its just savings principle is analysed. Agreeing with Bell, it is argued that the just savings principle provides some, though incomplete, support for sustainability. Wissenburg's restraint principle, a principle which might extend justice as fairness to fully support sustainability, is described and criticised for being too restrictive. A hypothetical fair consumption principle which would be preferable to the restraint principle is posited and four properties it might possess are discussed. It is argued that such a principle is compatible with justice as fairness and political liberalism and would be preferred to the restraint principle in the original position. This dissertation concludes with suggestions for further investigations into the fair consumption principle and other aspects of the relationship between liberalism and sustainability including population management and international justice.

# Intergenerational Justice and the Need for a Sustainable Society: What are the Implications for Rawlsian

### Liberalism?

Brian McBride BSc

OU Personal Reference Number W9479728

A dissertation submitted for the degree of MA in Philosophy in September 2006.

This dissertation is the sole work of the author who gratefully acknowledges the guidance and support of his tutor, Peter H. Lamb. Neither the whole nor any part has been submitted for a degree or any other qualification of the Open University or any other university or institution.

#### CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION
2. PROBLEMS OF SUSTAINABILITY AND INTERGENERATIONAL JUSTICE4
The Main Ideas of Sustainability4
Problems with a Standard Definition of Sustainability
Sustainability as Justice
A Conceptual Framework for Intergenerational Justice11
Some Objections to Intergenerational Justice
Objections to Intergenerational Justice Based on the Identity of Future Persons15
3. SUSTAINABILITY AND JUSTICE AS FAIRNESS
An Introduction to Justice as Fairness
Rawls and Justice between Generations
Rawls's Principles and Sustainability
The Restraint Principle
4. THE FAIR CONSUMPTION PRINCIPLE
Objections Due to Uncertainty
Alignment with Justice as Fairness and Political Liberalism
The Fair Consumption Principle in the Original Position
The Fair Consumption Principle and Stability
5. CONCLUSION
BIBLIOGRAPHY

#### **1. INTRODUCTION**

This dissertation is about the relationship between liberalism and sustainability, a topic that grows in importance as humans come to realize that their current practices may have effects that are catastrophic for future generations. An example is the effect on climate. So called green houses gasses, such as CO<sub>2</sub> and methane, absorb more infrared radiation from the sun than other atmospheric gases, trapping heat in the atmosphere and raising the atmospheric temperature. In 2002, as a result of burning fossil fuels, about 1.1 tons of carbon in the form of the green house gas carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  was added to the earth's atmosphere for each person on the planet (Marland, Boden et al. 2005a). In per capita terms some modern liberal democracies were amongst the worst offenders. The United States added 5.49 tons per person and the United Kingdom added 2.53 tons per person. China, which is not a liberal democracy, added 0.73 tons per person, whereas India, which is, added 0.32 tons per person (Marland, Boden et al. 2005b). CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from all sources are higher, the United States emitting 19.87 tons per person and the United Kingdom 9.1 tons per person (UNSD. 2005).<sup>1</sup> It is reported that with rapid industrialization China's emissions are growing rapidly and are expected to overtake those of the United States by the middle of the twenty first century (BBC 2005). With their rapid industrial growth, some other developing nations are likely also to be significant contributors to atmospheric pollution in the future.

Unchecked, these green house gas emissions are predicted to cause significant changes in the global climate including raising average temperatures by up to  $5.8^{\circ}$ C by the year 2100 (IPCC. 2001: 8)<sup>2</sup>, melting significant amounts of the polar icecaps, flooding costal regions, and turning fertile lands into deserts (Hillman 2004: 15-22). It has been suggested that as the global temperature rises, the permafrost of the Siberian tundra will melt releasing into the atmosphere large amounts of methane, a gas whose greenhouse effect is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> UNSD is the United Nations Statistics Division.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> IPCC is the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

more potent than that of carbon dioxide, causing further increases in temperature. The depredations of climate change and resource shortages are likely to lead to war and social upheaval which will undermine the stability of societies.

Since some of the liberal democracies are major emitters of damaging greenhouse gasses, the question arise whether such unsustainable behaviour is compatible with liberal ideals. The dominant modern theory of liberalism, *justice as fairness*, was first set out by John Rawls in *A Theory of Justice* (Rawls 1971). He later updated this work in *Political Liberalism* (Rawls 1993a) and *Justice as Fairness: A Restatement* (Rawls 2001). In this dissertation I argue that sustainability can be conceived as an issue of intergenerational justice, that justice as fairness must be extended if it is to require fully sustainable behaviour. I suggest that such an extension might take the form a principle of fair consumption and describe four properties such a principle might have.

My approach is neither a comprehensive nor a radical treatment of green issues. It is not comprehensive because sustainability is only part of the green agenda which also includes the rights of animals, preserving the environment for its own sake, preserving biodiversity, and the ethics of genetic engineering. My approach is not radical compared to what Andrew Dobson calls *political ecologism*. For Dobson, political ecologism is an ideology which can be compared with liberalism and socialism (Dobson 2000: 2-4). Political ecologism calls for a radical change in human values and institutions. Political ecologists are concerned with the intrinsic value that things, such as animals, mountains, and ecosystems, have of themselves (Dobson 2000: 37). This distinguishes political ecology from other ideologies such as liberalism in which value is determined by what persons value. Porritt and Winner (quoted in Dobson 2000: 9) wrote:

The most radical [green aim] seeks nothing less than a non-violent revolution to overthrow our whole polluting, plundering and materialistic industrial society and, in its place, to create a new economic and social order which will allow human beings to live in harmony with the planet. For Dobson this more radical approach is significant because it challenges the dominant ideology and offers an alternative for societies based on a failing industrialism. My goal in this dissertation is much more limited. I aim only to suggest that sustainability is an issue of intergenerational justice and that Rawls's justice as fairness can be extended to require sustainable behaviour and the limits on personal liberty that this entails. In selecting this goal I do not mean to suggest that a more radical approach should not also be pursued, but that before embarking on such a project, it is prudent to understand how well liberal ideology can support green ideas. In chapter 2 I discuss different conceptions of sustainability and suggest that it be conceived as an issue of intergenerational justice. I also defend the idea of justice between generations against various objections. In chapter 3 I describe Rawls's treatment of intergenerational justice in justice as fairness and consider the extent to which it requires sustainable behaviour. I also consider Marcel Wissenburg's restraint principle (Wissenburg 1998: 123) as a possible extension to Rawls's justice as fairness. In chapter 4 I suggest a new principle of justice that would ensure sustainable behaviour and discuss its compatibility with Rawls's justice as fairness and whether it is preferable to the restraint principle. In chapter 5 I summarize my conclusions and suggest further investigations.

#### 2. PROBLEMS OF SUSTAINABILITY AND INTERGENERATIONAL

#### JUSTICE

I begin this chapter with a discussion of the meaning of sustainability and suggest that it be conceived as a just distribution of resources between generations over time. I then defend the idea that questions of justice can arise between parties from generations that are widely separated in time.

#### The Main Ideas of Sustainability

Conventional economic theory and practice assumed that infinite exponential economic growth was possible (Jacobs 1999: 44). However, in 1972 an international group of scientists called the Club of Rome published a report on a series of computer simulations that suggested that the earth might reach the limits of economic, industrial, and population growth within a small number of decades (Meadows, Meadows et al. 1972). The report suggested that the then current behaviour of human beings was not sustainable.

Fifteen years later, the terms 'sustainability' and 'sustainable development' first gained political authority and widespread recognition with the publication of the so called *Brundtland Report* (WCED. 1987).<sup>3</sup> The concept of sustainability defines conditions that must be met for something to be described as sustainable. Sustainable behaviour is behaviour that meets these conditions. Sustainable development is a form of sustainable behaviour. Balancing the requirements for protecting the environment and economic development, the Brundtland report established the concept of sustainable development as the key principle underlying environmental policy. At the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development in 1992, the so called Earth Conference, sustainable development was formally endorsed by more than 150 national governments (Jacobs 1999: 21).

<sup>3</sup> The WCED is the World Commission on Environment and Development

Whilst I have referred above to *the* concept of sustainable development there are in fact several. Brundtland defines it as development which meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. The 'caring for the earth' definition is improving the quality of life whilst living within the carrying capacity of supporting ecosystems (Jacobs 1999: 23).

According to Jacobs concepts like 'sustainable development' are contestable concepts. They have two levels of definition. The first level is vague and describes the core ideas of the concept. Second level definitions are the subject of debate. As the key ideas are refined different second level conceptions of the broad concept are defined.

Jacobs writes, consistently with others such as Pezzey (1992: 48), that the core ideas of sustainable development are (Jacobs 1999: 26-7):

- 1. Environment-economy integration: ensuring that economic development and environmental protection are integrated in planning and implementation.
- 2. Futurity: an explicit concern about the impact of current activity on future generations.
- 3. Environmental protection: a commitment to reducing pollution and environmental degradation and to the more efficient use of resources.
- 4. Equity: a commitment to meeting at least the basic needs of the poor of the present generation (as well as equity between generations).
- Quality of life: a recognition that human well being is constituted by more than just income growth.
- 6. Participation: the recognition that sustainable development requires the political involvement of all groups or 'stakeholders' in society.

Since these are the ideas that distinguish sustainable from non-sustainable development I take them also to be key ideas of sustainability. Later, I will define a second level conception of sustainability that is compatible with these key ideas.

My subject concerns the implications of sustainability for Rawlsian liberalism. The ideas of environment-economy integration and participation are concerned with the practical politics of bringing about sustainability and not its philosophical foundations. I will therefore have little to say about them. Rawls's justice as fairness deals, in part, with the distribution of primary goods which are a means of enabling persons' plans for life and include rights, liberties, opportunities, and self respect as well as wealth. Justice as fairness thus already recognizes that there is more to quality of life than income growth and I will therefore say little more about that either.

From an environmentalist's perspective environmental protection is motivated by a concern for the well being of current and future persons. From an ecologist's perspective environmental protection is necessary because of the intrinsic value of the environment (Dobson 2000: 37). Jacobs distinguishes between weak and strong interpretations of 'environmental protection'. In the weak interpretation economic growth must be balanced with environmental protection. In the strong interpretation environmental protection places limits on economic growth so that at least the same level of use of the environment may continue indefinitely into the future. In neither of these interpretations does Jacobs suggest that the environmentalist interpretation as a core idea of sustainability. This is consistent with my approach as I am not arguing for a radical change in human values. The core ideas of sustainability with which I am concerned are futurity, equity, and the environmentalist's interpretation of environmental protection.

#### Problems with a Standard Definition of Sustainability

I will now turn to a more detailed analysis of what is meant by 'sustainability'. What does it mean to sustain? What is it that is sustained? In 1992 Pezzey reviewed (1992: 55-62) fifty definitions of sustainability found in the literature; by 1998 Dobson was writing of there being three hundred and the number was still growing (Dobson 1998: 33). As

Dobson points out amongst such a confusion of definitions the cogency of any argument based on a single definition is limited to those who accept that definition. Dobson's strategy for increasing the cogency of his arguments was to construct a typology of conceptions of sustainability abstracted from individual definitions. My approach is similar. Rather than attempt a precise definition of sustainability I will abstract a key feature that conceptions of sustainability acceptable to liberals must have and base my subsequent arguments on that feature.

Lets us start from a 'standard' definition of sustainability synthesised by Pezzey from definitions he found in the literature (Pezzey 1992: 48):

utility (equivalent to quality of life) should not decline

Here utility is a measure of quality of life *per capita* which must never decline, that is it is monotonic (Pezzey 1992: 9-11; Beckerman 1999: 72). Consider two utility curves over time, U and U'. U is always greater than U'. U' is monotonic and U is not. Since U is always greater than U' it is rational to prefer the history described by U to the one described by U'. Here I take the measure U to take account of any decline in the morale of the population as a result of utility declining for other reasons (Beckerman 1999: 76). Thus a distribution that is better than another, sustainable, distribution is not sustainable. This undermines the claim that sustainability is a desirable quality of a distribution. What is needed is a conception of sustainability that is sticky. A distribution U that is always higher than a sustainable distribution U should also be sustainable.<sup>4</sup>

This suggests a threshold conception of sustainability where a distribution U is ksustainable if it is always greater than or equal to k. The question of which values of k are significant arises. It may be suggested that k should be the level of utility today, but what is so special about today or any other day? Such a choice is arbitrary and may be impossible as we might have increased our present level of utility to one that cannot be sustained (Beckerman 1999: 73).

<sup>4</sup> I am indebted to my colleague Chris Dollin who suggested this approach.

Pezzey has defined *survivability* as setting k at the minimum level required for persons to survive (Pezzey 1992: 11). Survivability is not the same as Frankfurt's (1987: 37) doctrine of sufficiency in which each person would have enough that they are, or reasonably should be, content, for the amount needed for persons to survive may be considerably less than the amount needed for them to be content. Bare survivability is a dreary conception which does not, I think, express most people's conception of the good life implied by sustainability.

The value of k might be set at the maximum value that can be sustained indefinitely, let us say  $k_{max}$ . There may be no such value because the laws of thermodynamics predict that a physical system such as the earth must decline and come to an end sometime, but let us ignore that problem and regard such an event as sufficiently remote that it need not concern us here. There is another problem. A distribution of utility that fell below the maximum level that could be maintained would not be considered sustainable even though all the core ideas of sustainability were addressed satisfactorily under that distribution. Sustainability need not require the maximum level that can be sustained.

So, the value of k should be set somewhere above the level of survivability but below  $k_{max}$ . Yet there may be no specific level that can be justified as the correct level for sustainability. I will suggest a different approach in the next section.

#### Sustainability as Justice

The definitions of sustainability that I have considered so far aim to capture the meaning of the term in a formula constraining the distribution over time of some metric. In doing so they lose the essential idea that renders the concept politically attractive. Following Bell (Bell 2002: 707-9) and others, for example (Barry 1999), I suggest that the essential idea underlying the concept of sustainability is not that some distribution must correspond to some formula but the idea that the distribution must be just. I suggest for example that it is because it would be unjust that many people would object to a few generations selfishly

plundering the planet for their own advantage thereby causing hardship to those who lived after them. It may be that sustainability attracts widespread political support because it is a just concept.

Justice is a necessary property of any conception of sustainability that is compatible with Rawls's theory of justice. Rawls wrote that 'the circumstances of justice obtain whenever persons put forward conflicting claims to the division of social advantages under conditions of moderate scarcity' (Rawls 1999a: 110) which can be the case between persons living at different times.<sup>5</sup> For example there may be enough oil to meet the needs of all generations but it is unlikely there is enough to supply all their wants. Rawls also wrote that justice is held to be the primary virtue of a liberal society's basic institutions (Rawls 1999a: 3). Since these institutions should be just and must play a role in whatever regulation is required to ensure sustainability, that regulation is constrained to be just.

Let us now turn to the question of what is to be distributed justly. In Pezzey's standard definition it is utility that is the subject of distribution. Utility is a measure of the well being, or welfare, of persons and so measures an end. Others suggest that sustainability concerns the distribution of resources, or *capital*; that is the means to achieve ends (Holland 1999: 50). This is an aspect of a modern debate concerning whether distributive justice concerns the distribution of functioning capabilities<sup>6</sup>, resources, or welfare (Arneson 2002: 93-100).

A conception of sustainability concerned with the distribution of capabilities or welfare does not provide any direct guidance on what should be done in practice to achieve a just distribution. The goal to make future persons happy or to have the capabilities they desire does not directly help decide what to do because we cannot know what will make them happy or what capabilities they will value. However, we can aim to ensure that future persons have the capital means to achieve their happiness. Goals expressed in terms

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> I assume that someone will advance the claims of future persons.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sen has proposed that what matters is the capability the persons have to be and do what they value.

of capital offer a basis on which policy can be based directly. So I will prefer a conception of sustainability that is concerned with capital rather than with ends.

Capital can be divided into *natural capital*, the capacities found in the natural world such as animals, plants, and minerals, and *human made capital* such as mines, factories, and farms as well as knowledge, skills, and culture. Since capital is a means to enable persons to achieve their ends some capital can be substituted for other capital. Capital, for which there is no substitute is known as *critical capital* (Holland 1999: 50-3). Capital may be critical because of its kind. There may simply be no adequate substitute for, for example, education. Capital may also be critical because of the quantity available. Whilst substance A may be substituted for substance B, substance B may nevertheless be critical because there is not enough substance A to substitute for B everywhere it is needed. I note also that whilst some capital, such as air and water, is likely always to be critical, some capital will be critical at some times and not at others. For example, in the twentieth century we had no substitute for oil. In the twenty second century technology may have advanced sufficiently that oil is no longer critical.

It may be argued that since we do not know what future persons' life plans are nor how technology will evolve, we cannot know what capital will be critical in future and consequently what capital to preserve and what capital may be safely used up. It is correct that there is uncertainty, but it seems to me that since capital often has multiple applications, a conception of sustainability as just distribution of capital is the more likely to be practically useful.

I have now reached the second level conception of sustainability that I will use in this dissertation which is that sustainability requires a just distribution of critical capital over time. Since there is a plentiful supply of substitutes for non-critical capital, the subject of the distribution that concerns us may be restricted to critical capital. This conception of sustainability relies on the idea of intergenerational justice. In the following sections I will defend the idea of intergenerational justice against a number of criticisms.

#### A Conceptual Framework for Intergenerational Justice

I have argued above for a conception of sustainability as requiring a just distribution of critical capital over time. A successful challenge to the concept of intergenerational justice would likely also be a successful challenge to this conception of sustainability. A number of issues have been raised that challenge whether issues of justice can arise between parties from generations widely separated in time.<sup>7</sup> In the rest of this chapter I will defend the concept of intergenerational justice against such objections.

Authors on the topic of intergenerational justice use a variety of different terms. Meyer for example writes in terms of rights and obligations (Meyer 2003: 2.). On the other hand, Rawls expresses himself primarily in terms of principles of justice.<sup>8</sup> In order to relate the various concepts and terms used by the authors whose work I consider here, I will adopt the following conceptual framework and definitions.

When considerations of justice apply between parties one party may be viewed as holding *rights* against another and the other having corresponding *obligations* to the former. More specifically, this applies when the parties are from different and possibly non-contemporaneous generations and considerations of intergenerational justice apply between parties. A right is a justified claim (Rex 1998). There is a close relationship between the concept of rights and the concept of a theory of justice. A right may be justified by reference to a theory of justice and so it can be said that a theory of justice confers rights and obligations. For example, if a theory of justice demands particular constraints on the distribution of goods, rights, and obligations, then I will say that that theory confers the right that those constraints be respected.

I will use the following definitions for persons alive in the past, present and future. A *present person* is a person who is alive now. A *future person* is a person who will be born

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Meyer 2003 for an overview.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Note, however, that his first principle of justice is expressed in terms of a right (Rawls 1999a:266).

after all present persons die. A *past person* is a person who lived and died before all present persons were born.

One might introduce the concept of harm into this framework by suggesting, as Carter does (2001: 436), that a key right is the right not to be harmed. However, care must be taken because there are different conceptions of what constitutes harm. With some definitions of harm a right not to be harmed may have unwanted consequences. For example some hold that an act A harms a person P if that act causes P to be less well off than some alternative possible act *X*. Consider a society where the total amount of goods is fixed and they all are shared equally. Everyone in that society would be less well off when a child was born because to maintain equality they would have to give up some of their goods for that child. Thus it could be argued that under that society's theory of justice a right not to be harmed in this sense is incompatible with having children. Rather than stating that a person has a right not to be harmed, I will say that someone is harmed if their rights are violated.

#### Some Objections to Intergenerational Justice

Having established a framework and terminology I can address some objections to the concept of intergenerational justice. The first is that asymmetries in the relationships between past, present, and future persons render the notion of justice between them untenable. Persons are unable to affect the circumstances of past persons but can have significant effects on the circumstances of future persons. Rawls described the *circumstances of justice* as being 'the normal conditions under which human cooperation is both possible and necessary' (Rawls 1999a: 109). Opportunities for cooperation between past, present, and future persons are limited. Cooperation between parties normally requires the active involvement of all parties and this is not possible between past, present, and future persons. So it could be argued that Rawls himself ruled out justice applying between generations.

However, as noted earlier, Rawls also writes (1999a: 110):

The circumstances of justice obtain whenever persons put forward conflicting claims to the division of social advantages under conditions of moderate scarcity

and later (Rawls 1999a: 257):

The life of a people is conceived as a scheme of cooperation spread out in historical time. It is to be governed by the same conception of justice that regulates the cooperation of contemporaries

These and other remarks in his writings indicate that Rawls believed that justice applied across generations.

I will now consider an objection that questions whether intergenerational justice is compatible with justice for contemporaries. Consider a theory of justice that holds that all persons should have equal rights. Consider also that women in the United Kingdom at beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century did not have the right to vote whilst men of the same period did. It would be absurd to deny the vote to present women on the grounds that intergenerational justice required that present women have the same rights as past women. Thus, equal rights across generations may be incompatible with equal rights for the present generation. Barry concludes that the principal of equal rights has no direct intergenerational application (1999: 98). If the principle of equal rights does not hold between generations then intergenerational justice in general may not hold either.

One might counter that intergenerational justice is forward looking. As Barry writes later in the same paper (Barry 1999: 107) :

It must be conceded that the expression 'intergenerational justice' [...] is a sort of shorthand for 'justice between the present generation and future generations'. Because of time's arrow, we cannot do anything to make people in the past better off than they actually were, so it is absurd to say that our relations to them could be either just or unjust. 'Ought' implies 'can', and the only people whose fate we can affect are those living now and in the future.

Justice concerns the distribution of advantages and there is nothing that present or future persons can do to affect the circumstances, including the distribution of advantages, experienced by past persons. The same cannot be said of the relationship between present

and future persons. Present persons do affect the circumstances of future persons and so issues of justice do arise between present and future persons.

Turning to another objection, it has been argued that future persons do not exist now and therefore cannot be the subject of anything, including rights, now (Meyer 2003: 2.1). Meyer argues that although future persons do not have rights now this does not mean that their future rights cannot be violated now. I make the stronger claim that future persons can have rights now.

In making this claim I distinguish between two different conceptions of existence. There is the concept of corporeal existence, which I shall refer to as *c*-existence, which is having a physical presence in the universe for an interval of time. Future persons do not c-exist now, but they will. There is also a concept of existence which deems an entity to exist by being a member of a domain. The *domain* of a relation is the collection of entities related by that relation.<sup>9</sup> All future people are related to Cleopatra by the relation that their time of birth is later than or equal to her time of death. Thus all future people can exist in the domain of a relation. I will refer to existence in this sense as *d*-existence.

For a relation to exist between two entities in a domain it is sufficient that those entities d-exist in the domain of the relation. They need not c-exist. For example, despite having no corporeal existence the owl and the pussycat are related in that they are characters in the same book.

A party having a right is a relation between that party and that right. Such a relation can only exist if having the right is justified, possibly by a theory of justice. Neither the owl nor the pussycat has rights because there is no theory of justice, or other means, that justify them having any rights. As we have seen, the existence of a relation does not require the related entities to c-exist. The fact that a future person does not c-exist now does not preclude a 'having a right according to theory T' relation to exist between that future

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Whilst I am using the term *relation* in its usual mathematical sense, I am using the term *domain* to mean the set of all entities related by a relation.

person and a right. Future persons having rights is more than just a theoretical possibility for there are theories that grant rights to future persons because they grant rights to all persons. For example, the theory that all persons have a right not to be deliberately killed after they are conceived is such a theory.

In summary, I have argued that the fact that future people do not physically exist now does not necessarily preclude their having rights. The reason is that having a right is a relation between a party and a right and, in general, relations can exist between entities that have no physical existence. So the argument that there can be no intergenerational justice because future people cannot have rights fails.

#### Objections to Intergenerational Justice Based on the Identity of Future

#### Persons

I will now explain how, given the facts of human biology and a view of the identity of human individuals, the actions of present persons can affect the identity of future persons. I will show that present actions can change which persons will exist in the future. I will then go on to address issues for intergenerational justice that arise from this observation.

In the discussion that follows I refer to possible worlds as a means of discussing different outcomes that could occur depending on future events and circumstances. As Carter says: 'One (not uncontroversial) way of elucidating counterfactuals and subjunctive conditionals is to employ the language of possible worlds' (Carter 2001: 434). A possible world is a world that could c-exist. At any time in the future many possible worlds may occur and exactly one of these will occur.

It is reasonable to consider that a person's identity consists, in part, of their genetic makeup. This claim could be denied and some conception of the identity of persons chosen that was not correlated with genetic makeup. For example, ignoring complications arising from new techniques such as human cloning and noting that twins are born at slightly different moments, one might say that a person is identified by being the n<sup>th</sup> child

born of a mother. Under such a conception of identity, if C and D are both the n<sup>th</sup> child of mother M, then C and D are the same person. Given this conception of identity, the same person may have both blue eyes and brown eyes, for in one possible world the first child of M may have blue eyes and in another possible world her first child, and thus the same person, might have brown eyes. From this we must conclude either that eye colour is not a property of a person in the sense of person identified as the nth child of its mother, or that this means of identifying persons cannot be used across different possible worlds.<sup>10</sup> Such a conception of the identity of a person is not adequate for my purposes here. Later in this section I require a conception of the identity of persons with which it is possible to discuss whether or not the same person exists in different possible worlds. The genetic makeup of a person has such a profound effect on their nature, capabilities, physical characteristics, and station in life that it would be absurd to say that two persons with a different genetic makeups they are different persons.

Human beings reproduce when a spermatozoon fertilizes an ovum. The spermatozoon contains half the genetic makeup of the father and the ovum contains a complimentary half of the genetic makeup of the mother. Two different spermatozoa from the same father are very likely to have different genetic makeups as are two different ova from the same mother. The genetic makeup of a complete human being is formed by combining the genetic makeups from the ovum and the spermatozoon that fertilizes it. Thus it is highly likely that if a different ovum is fertilized or fertilization is by a different spermatozoon, or both, then a human being with a different genetic makeup, and thus a different person, will result.

Human females release a new egg for fertilization approximately every 28 days so it is highly likely that which month a woman conceives will determine, in part, the identity of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Here I am using (part of) Leibniz's concept of identity, that, where X and Y are entities, and '==' denotes the identity relation, if X == Y, then p(X) == p(Y), for all properties p of X (Simons 1998).

her child. This is Parfit's second time dependence claim (Parfit 1984: 352). Human males release millions of spermatozoa at a time and it may be assumed to be unlikely that there is any correlation between the genetic makeup of a spermatozoon and its chances of fertilizing an ovum. It is likely that which spermatozoon fertilizes the ovum may depend on the exact time of fertilization, and so the identity of each child depends on the exact time of conception. This is Parfit's (1984: 351) first time dependence claim. Further, the time of conception may depend on many day to day factors such as the weather, the state of the evening traffic, and whether either parent had a particularly stressful day and so the identity of future persons depends upon apparently minor circumstances at the time of conception as well as the identity of their parents.

A consequence of this observation is that it may be argued that since rights belong to particular people and since given these facts of human biology we cannot hope to be able to identify future people then future people cannot have rights. But, as Meyer argues (2003: 2.2), this is not the case. A right is a justified claim so provided justifications do not rely on identifying specific individuals then future people can have rights. In principle this depends on the theory by which the rights are justified but it is not uncommon, as in human rights for example, for rights to apply generally and not require the identification of specific individuals.

There is a further issue concerning the identity of future persons that Parfit called the *non-identity problem* (Parfit 1984: 359). Kavka called it the *paradox of future individuals* (Kavka 1982: 93-5).<sup>11</sup> In essence the issue is that it is claimed that it is not possible for a policy to harm future persons because adoption of a policy will change the identity of the persons who will live in the future and therefore persons alive in the future are no worse off than they would have been had the policy not been adopted and so they cannot have been harmed by the policy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See also (Schwartz 1978).

To illustrate in more detail here is an example based on one by Parfit (1984: 361-4). Consider a society choosing between two resource management policies, one sustainable and the other not.<sup>12</sup> If the sustainable policy is adopted a particular natural resource is conserved and the well being of members of the society continues to improve for thousands of years. If the unsustainable policy is adopted citizens are better off than under the sustainable policy for the next two hundred years or so and are considerably worse off thereafter when the resource has run out. Recall that the identity of future persons depends on apparently minor differences in circumstances which affect the exact time of conception. The choice of policy is very likely to affect the circumstances of conception and thus the times of conception and so the genetic makeup of the persons that constitute the next generation. Therefore the identity of many of the persons alive in the first generation after the policy choice will be different under the sustainable policy from those alive under the unsustainable policy. The second generation is more likely to be different because not only are there different circumstances as a result of the differences between the two policies but there are also differences because different persons were born in the first generation. After three hundred years of this it is highly likely that all the persons alive in possible worlds under the unsustainable policy have different identities to the persons alive in possible worlds under the sustainable policy.

If the society chooses the unsustainable policy then those alive in three hundred years will be considerably worse off than those who would have been alive had the society chosen the sustainable policy but the people actually alive are no worse off than they would have been had the sustainable policy been chosen instead as they would not have been alive at all under that policy. In Parfit's view they have not been harmed. If one takes the view that being brought into existence, provided one has a life worth living, is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Parfit refers to these as the conservative and depletion policies respectively.

benefit then those alive under the unsustainable policy have not only not been harmed but have benefited from that policy.

From such arguments Schwartz concludes that 'we've no obligations extending [...] terribly far into the future to provide any widespread, continuing benefits to our descendents' (Schwartz 1978: 3). As Carter points out (Carter 2001: 438), the identity problem is also a problem for theories of intergenerational justice such as justice as fairness for unjust behaviour harms its victims and if it is not possible to harm persons in the far future, then it is not possible to behave in ways that are unjust to them.

How may we reply to Schwartz? It could be argued that there are utilitarian arguments for adopting the sustainable policy but, as Carter again points out, utilitarianism has problems dealing with future generations (Carter 2001: 432). Classical utilitarianism is usually interpreted as maximising the total amount of happiness. The problem is that this leads to the conclusion that it is better to have large numbers of pretty miserable people, provided they have lives worth living, than a smaller number of a happier, fulfilled people provided that the total amount of happiness is higher in the former than in the latter situation. This is known as the *repugnant conclusion* (Parfit 1984: 388). Other undesirable conclusions follow if the metric to be maximized is average happiness. In that case it is right to kill people who have below average happiness because it will increase the average.

To avoid these difficulties, some utilitarians have adopted the *person affecting principle* which, in one form, states that '*only* acts which affect or can reasonably be expected to affect (i.e. benefit or harm) the ongoing lives of particular individuals can count as morally significant' (Partridge 2002: 81). However, this principle provides no escape from Schwartz's argument which has this principle as a premise. Further Partridge views the non-identity problem as an *argumentum ad absurdum* of the person affecting principle. He argues that Schwarz's conclusion that we have no obligations to future persons is absurd but is logically entailed by the person affecting principle and the non-identity problem.

Therefore one of these two premises must be rejected and since the non-identity problem appears to be empirically secure, it is the person affecting principle that must go (Partridge 2002: 82).

Meyer has suggested a response to the non-identity problem which preserves the person affecting principle. It is based on the *subjunctive threshold* concept of harm (Meyer 2003: 3.1):

An action (or inaction) at time  $t_1$  harms someone only if the agent thereby causes (allows) this person's life to fall below some specified threshold.

The threshold may be defined by a theory of justice such as justice as fairness. Therefore, if some theory of justice required constraints on the distribution of resources across generations and persons in some generation were denied their just amount of resources then they would have fallen below the threshold and therefore would have been harmed whatever their identity.

Woodward also suggests a response, arguing that conceptions of harm need not be consequentialist. He offers the example of a person called Smith who is denied a seat on an aircraft on racial grounds in violation of his rights. The aircraft subsequently crashes killing all on board and Smith is presumed to be better off for not being on it. Woodward argues that Smith was harmed regardless of the consequences to him because his rights were violated when he was denied a seat (Woodward 1986: 810-1). So if I am right that future persons can have rights then future persons are harmed when those rights are violated whether those persons are better off, worse off, or unaffected as a consequence of the act that violated their rights. Therefore future persons can be harmed whatever their identity.

Meyer and Woodward offer responses to Schwartz's argument which is therefore not fatal to the notion of intergenerational justice. In this chapter I have suggested that sustainability be conceived as requiring a just distribution of critical capital over time and thus as a concept defined in terms of intergenerational justice. I have then defended the concept of intergenerational justice against a number of objections. In the next chapter I will discuss the application of Rawls's justice as fairness to this conception of sustainability.

#### 3. SUSTAINABILITY AND JUSTICE AS FAIRNESS

In this chapter I apply Rawls's justice as fairness to sustainability conceived as a just distribution of critical capital over time. I begin the chapter with a brief introduction to justice as fairness followed by a more detailed analysis of Rawls's writings on justice between generations. Following this I discuss the extent to which Rawls's principles of justice ensure sustainability, taking into account differences, discussed by Derek Bell (2002), between Rawls's earlier and later writing. I argue that the principles of justice worked out by Rawls must be extended if they are to ensure sustainability. I describe Marcel Wissenburg's restraint principle as a possible extension and argue that it may be more restrictive than is necessary and so would not be agreed in the original position if a less restrictive but adequate alternative principle could be found.

#### An Introduction to Justice as Fairness

Roughly speaking justice means that different treatment must be justifiable by morally relevant reasons. This statement conveys little until more is known about what counts as morally relevant. Brian Barry suggests that it is an indicator of possible injustice that a person receiving different treatment cannot reasonably be expected to freely accept it (Barry 1999: 97). Rawls bases justice as fairness on this simple idea. As Rawls puts it (Rawls 1999a: 10):

The guiding idea [of justice as fairness] is that the principles of justice for the basic structure of society [...] are the principles that free and rational persons concerned to further their own interests would accept in an initial position of equality as defining the fundamental terms of their association.

The primary subject of justice as fairness is the basic structure of society or 'more exactly, the way in which the major social institutions distribute fundamental rights and duties and determine the division of advantages from social cooperation' (Rawls 1999a: 6). The major social institutions include the constitution, the legal system, family arrangements, and private property.

Justice in justice as fairness is achieved in four stages. The first determines principles of justice to regulate the basic structure of society. In the second a constitutional convention designs a specific constitution. In the third a legislature passes laws. In the final stage administrators and courts apply those laws (Rawls 1999a: 171-6).

Rawls proposes that we imagine that the principles of justice are discussed and agreed in a hypothetical situation he calls the *original position*. Persons in the original position are assumed to be rational, motivated to further their own interests, disinterested in others, and to have a rational plan of life. To eliminate bias persons in the original position are assumed to be behind a *veil of ignorance* which ensures that whilst they possess general knowledge they know nothing of their own situation. They know nothing about their personal psychology, position in society, or about the development status or nature of their society. The assumption of rationality ensures that there are reasoned arguments for the principles agreed in the original position. The assumption of disinterest in others ensures that the agreed principles do not rely on unrealistic assumptions about the psychology of persons. The veil of ignorance ensures that the agreed principles are fair because, without information on their personal circumstances, persons in the original position don't have the information needed to bias the outcome in their individual favour (Rawls 1999a: 120-1).

The original position is a rhetorical device. It is a metaphor that represents restrictions on the logical arguments that may be used to justify principles of justice. As Rawls puts it, the original position 'models [...] acceptable restrictions on the reasons on the basis of which the parties [...] may properly put forward certain principles of justice and reject others' (Rawls 2001: 80).

After much argument Rawls states (Rawls 1999a: 266) that the following principles would be agreed in the original position:

1. Each person is to have an equal right to the most extensive total system of equal basic liberties compatible with a similar system of liberty for all.

- 2. Social and economic inequalities are to be arranged so that they are both:
  - a. To the greatest benefit of the least advantaged, consistent with the just savings principle<sup>13</sup>, and
  - b. Attached to offices and positions open to all under conditions of fair equality of opportunity.

Principle 2a is the *difference principle* which regulates the distribution of *primary goods*. Primary goods are 'things that every rational man is presumed to want' as they 'normally have a use whatever a person's rational plan of life'. Primary goods include rights, liberties, opportunities, income, wealth, and self respect (Rawls 1999a: 54). The difference principle is very different to the utilitarian principle of maximising overall benefit. It may seem that the obvious course for those in the original position is to choose principles that would maximize overall benefit since simple statistics tells us that, given the ignorance of persons in the original position of their personal circumstances, this would maximize each individual's expectation of benefit. However Rawls argues that there are three reasons why persons in the original position would choose the difference principle. The first is that because of the veil of ignorance they are ignorant of the probabilities necessary to enable them to calculate which principles would maximize overall benefit. The second is that social and economic inequality is secondary to the first principle which concerns maximal liberty. It is not rational to risk the primary need of liberty for uncertain social and economic advantage. The third reason is that, provided the difference principle is acceptable and it is possible that other outcomes from the original position are intolerable, it is not rational to risk an intolerable outcome for uncertain and inessential social or economic advantage (Rawls 1999a: 134-5). Thus it can be argued that persons in the original position are risk averse when they are not able to calculate the probabilities of different outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> I discuss the just savings principle in more detail below.

In Political Liberalism (Rawls 1993a) Rawls acknowledged that his account of the stability of a society conforming to justice as fairness relied on all citizens accepting a common comprehensive moral doctrine (Rawls 1993a: xviii-xix). It is an empirical fact that this is not the case in the kind of democratic liberal societies for which justice as fairness was designed. To address this Rawls proposed a new account of the stability of a regime under justice as fairness in which he introduced several new concepts. He clarified that justice as fairness is a political conception not a comprehensive moral or religious doctrine. A *political conception of justice* is one that is worked out for the basic structure of society only (Rawls 1993a: 11). Political values are values that apply to the basic structure of society. He introduces the idea of reasonableness. A reasonable person is one who recognises the value of social cooperation and is willing 'to propose principles and standards as fair terms of cooperation and to abide by them willingly, given the assurance that others will likewise do so' (Rawls 1993a: 49). Liberal legitimacy is the idea that state power may only be used 'in accordance with a constitution the essentials of which all citizens as free and equal may reasonably be expected to endorse' (Rawls 1993a: 137). The *constitutional essentials* consist of the fundamental principles that specify the structure of government and the equal basic rights and liberties that all citizens are to enjoy. Legislatures must respect the constitutional essentials (Rawls 1993a: 227). Basic Justice consists of matters of basic distributive justice including 'freedom of movement, equality of opportunity, social and economic inequalities, and the social basis of self respect' (Rawls 1993a: 228). Public reason is reason that is based on political values that all free and reasonable persons might be expected to endorse and is conducted in public (Rawls 1993a: 226). Finally an *overlapping consensus* is a consensus of reasonable citizens with differing comprehensive doctrines (Rawls 1993a: 15).

Rawls argues that if the questions of constitutional essentials and matters of basic justice are determined by public reason alone they can be the subject of an overlapping

consensus of persons with reasonable comprehensive doctrines and the state then has liberal legitimacy and will be stable.

#### Rawls and Justice between Generations

Having briefly introduced the main ideas of justice as fairness I will now examine Rawls's treatment of justice between non-contemporaneous generations. Rawls intends justice as fairness to address issues of justice between generations for he states (Rawls 1999a: 118-

9):

Questions of social justice arise between generations as well as within them, for example, the question of the appropriate rate of capital saving and of the conservation of natural resources and the environment of nature.

and (Rawls 1999a: 258):

The present generation cannot do as it pleases but is bound by the principles that would be chosen in the original position to define justice between persons at different moments in time.

He also writes (1999a: 252):

The appropriate expectation in applying the difference principle is that of the long-term prospects of the least favoured extending over future generations. Each generation [...] must also put aside in each period of time a suitable amount of real capital accumulation.

However, as Rawls points out, the difference principle cannot reliably justify a savings principle because, in a situation of long term economic growth and social development such as has been enjoyed by the western democracies in recent centuries, the least favoured at any time are likely to be the least favoured for a considerable time thereafter. In this situation the current generation is the least favoured and there would be no, or at best inadequate, savings. Yet in these circumstances a reasonable rate of saving is in almost everyone's best interests, for the benefit persons receive from the savings of those who have lived before them is highly likely to be greater than the cost to them. Something else is needed if savings are to be assured (Rawls 1999a: 253-4).

To address this problem, Rawls introduced the idea of a *just savings principle* (Rawls 1999a: 252). A just savings principle regulates how much capital accumulation each

generation should set aside for future generations. Despite a savings principle being in the best interests of all generations but the first it is not straightforward to explain why a savings principle would be agreed in an original position. Rawls adopts the *present time of entry* interpretation of the original position in which the original position may be entered by anyone at any time 'simply by reasoning in accordance with the appropriate restrictions' (Rawls 1999a: 119). Under this interpretation all persons in the original position know they are contemporaries (Rawls 1999a: 121) and since they are disinterested in the welfare of others and are motivated to increase their own share of primary goods they have no reason to set aside any of their capital for the benefit of future generations (Rawls 1999a: 254-5). The knowledge that all persons in the original position are contemporaries has the effect of sanctioning persons in the original position favouring their own generation at the expense of future generations. Thus the present time of entry interpretation allows reasoning about principles of justice that are unfair to future persons.

Perhaps this unfairness can be addressed by abandoning the present time of entry interpretation. Like Beekman (2004: 8), I cannot find a comprehensive explanation by Rawls of his reasons for adopting the present time of entry interpretation. For example, Rawls writes (1999a: 120):

The original position is not to be thought of as a general assembly which includes at one moment everyone who will live at some time; or, much less, as an assembly of everyone who could live at some time. It is not a gathering of all actual or possible persons. If we conceived of the original position in either of these ways, the conception would cease to be a natural guide to intuition and would lack a clear sense. In any case, the original position must be interpreted so that one can at any time adopt its perspective. It must make no difference when one takes up this viewpoint or who does so: the restrictions must be such that the same principles are always chosen.

He makes it clear the he has adopted the present time of entry interpretation but offers no explanation why the other interpretations would 'cease to be a natural guide to intuition and would lack a clear sense'. That one can at any time adopt the viewpoint of the original position does not preclude an original position containing representatives from all generations. Such a perspective seems natural and intuitive, can be adopted at any time

and it makes no difference when one takes up this standpoint because the veil of ignorance precludes persons in the original position knowing to which generation they belong. Perhaps the non-identity problem and related issues discussed above offers the basis of an explanation (Beekman 2004: 8). Let us consider the two alternative interpretations suggested by Rawls.

First consider an original position which includes 'everyone who could live at some time'. As I have argued in the discussion on the non-identity problem, if the choice of principles in the original position is to affect the policies of society it will affect the identity of the persons who will be born. Since there are vastly more persons who could live than will live the vast majority of persons in this kind of original position will never live and so may prefer to continue to debate in the original position than to give up all reasonable hope of any other kind of existence. My point is not that hypothetical existence in the original position is preferable to a vanishingly small chance of being born but that this sort of argument distracts and so undermines the usefulness of the concept of the original position as an aid to thinking and exposition.

Second consider an original position that includes everyone who will live at some time. There is an uncomfortable circularity in this conception of the original position for it is populated by persons who will live, yet the identity of the persons who will live is dependent upon the deliberations in the original position. Again such considerations distract and so undermine the value of the concept of the original position. It is better to avoid such distractions and adopt the present time of entry interpretation.

As I observed above, under the present time of entry interpretation there appears to be no motivation for persons to save. To address this, in the original edition of *A Theory of Justice*, Rawls added a further motivational assumption that each person in the original position cares for their immediate descendents (Rawls 1971: 255). However he withdrew this assumption in later works and, following a suggestion by Parfit, stipulated instead that the just savings principle is 'subject to the condition that they [the parties in the original position] must want all previous generations to have followed it' (Rawls 2001: 160).<sup>14</sup> The formal constraints on principles considered in the original position insist they be expressed in general terms (Rawls 1999a: 113) which, together with the stipulation, ensures that principles agreed in the original position affect future generations as the present generation would want to be affected. This rules out principles that discriminate against future generations. These changes are an improvement in that they allow Rawls to simplify the assumptions he makes about persons, relying only on their self interest for motivation, whilst being able to argue, as I will now explain, that persons in the original position would agree to a savings principle

Consider that a savings principal is proposed in the original position that each generation set aside according to some schedule capital for the building up of a just basic structure and suppose further that this principle is subject to the stipulation just discussed. Given a positive return on capital investment the schedule can be arranged so that each generation except the first is likely to gain at least as much from the savings of previous generations as it sets aside for the next generation.<sup>15</sup> Since there is only one first generation and presumably many thereafter it is rational for persons in the original position to agree to this savings principle because they are more likely to gain than to lose from it provided the consequences to the first generation are not so severe that the small risk of experiencing them outweighs the more probable advantages of being in a later generation.

Having established that the persons in the original position would agree to some principle of savings I come to the questions of how much and for what purpose they will save. As Rawls puts it, 'The just savings principle can be regarded as an understanding between generations to carry their fair share of the burden of realizing and preserving a just

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> In the revised edition of a Theory of Justice Rawls included both the motivational assumption and the stipulation (Rawls 1999a:255).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> I leave aside, as does Rawls, what principle to apply in a situation of economic decline when there is a negative return on investment. I assume that some principle constraining the allowable decline in the basic structure can be worked out.

society' (1999a: 257). Rawls offers no formula to determine the amount of savings, reckoning that to be impossible (Rawls 1999a: 255). The amount is that which would be agreed by persons in the original position balancing the benefits they will receive from the savings of earlier generations with the loss of benefit they will endure. The amount of savings will depend on the state of society. Less will be required of early, less well off generations than of later generations on whom the relative burden of a higher rate of savings is less (Rawls 1999a: 255). Rawls also writes (1999a: 255):

Eventually, once just institutions are firmly established and all the basic liberties effectively realized, the net accumulation asked for falls to zero. At this point a society meets its duty of justice by maintaining just institutions and preserving their material base. The just savings principle applies to what a society is to save as a matter of justice. If its members wish to save for other purposes, that is another matter.

Thus the purpose of saving in justice as fairness is the building up over time and then maintaining a just basic structure for society. Rawls states that 'justice does not require that early generations save so that later ones are simply more wealthy' (1999a: 257). I find this language hard to interpret. I take 'early generations' to mean all generations on the grounds that since justice is universal it should apply equally to all generations.<sup>16</sup> It is not clear whether Rawls means that justice places no constraints on the distribution of wealth amongst generations. Whilst the text rules out savings whose aim is to make later generations more wealthy it does not rule out savings whose effect is to make later generations more wealthy but is motivated by a different concern such as justice or equity. On balance, given the emphasis in the text that the purpose of savings is the creation and maintenance of a just basic structure, I think that Rawls does mean to say that justice as fairness places no other constraints on the distribution of wealth across generations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The statement is vacuous for the last generation.

#### *Rawls's Principles and Sustainability*

I come now to the main topic of this chapter which is whether and to what extent Rawls's principles ensure sustainability. Recall (p. 10) that sustainability requires a just distribution of critical capital over time. Recall also (p. 26) that Rawls claims that conservation of the environment is an issue of intergenerational justice and that just principles to govern justice between generations are those that would be agreed in the original position. However Rawls points out that he has not fully worked out these aspects of justice as fairness. He writes that 'We may think of these other questions as problems of extension' that can be discussed later, though when better understood they may 'require us to revise answers already reached' (Rawls 1993a: 20).

Rawls's justice as fairness makes some provision for sustainability as it places some constraints on the distribution of critical capital over time for, as we have seen, justice as fairness includes a just savings principle to provide for the creation and maintenance of a just basic structure. Unsustainable development can have catastrophic consequences. For example unchecked global warming may give rise to significant changes in climate that will turn fertile land into desert, restricting the availability of food and water. As such effects became severe people would die and thus be denied their right to basic liberties. The rule of law might break down as people fight for life's essentials. Since its primary goal is to develop and maintain a just basic structure, justice as fairness rules out unsustainable behaviour that leads to the failure of the just basic structure.

Derek Bell makes a similar point in a paper in which he discusses environmental issues in the context of Rawls's later works (Bell 2002: 705-10). In this paper he draws attention to the two kinds of arguments that political liberalism allows to justify policies. The first kind consists of public reason arguments which must be used to settle questions concerning basic justice and the constitutional essentials and should be used where possible to settle other political questions. Bell argues that public reason arguments are sufficient 'to justify a liberal commitment to a (a conception of) "sustainability" (Bell 2002: 707-8). He argues, quoting Rawls, that there must be limits to the amount of damage that political liberalism can allow to the environment if its 'aim is to maintain a co-operative society of free and equal citizens "over time, from one generation to the next" (Rawls 2001: 5; Bell 2002: 708).

So far we have seen that arguing from either Rawls's proposal of a just savings principle in A Theory of Justice or from a public reason argument suggested in Political *Liberalism*, justice as fairness supports some conception of sustainability. I will now argue that neither of these arguments is sufficient to ensure sustainability as I have suggested it be conceived. Consider the case of a substance S which is critical capital for some time interval T which is long enough that several generations will live and die during T. Let us assume that there is a total fixed amount A of S, that amount  $A_{bs}$  of S is necessary to maintain the basic structure of society and will be consumed when so used, and that additional quantities of S are required for persons alive during T to fulfil their rational plans of life. Let us further assume that conditions of moderate scarcity apply and that the total amount of S less  $A_{bs}$  is insufficient to enable all the persons who live during T to fulfil their plans of life. As is not unusual, a law of diminishing returns applies to the use of S. Further quantities of S, whilst still desirable, bring less incremental benefit to their owners than initial quantities. Now consider a distribution D in which the persons alive in the first half of T, in order to improve an already acceptable quality of life, use up the available S leaving just enough to maintain the basic structure through the second half of T? I suggest that the intuitions of most people would be that D is not just.

To decide whether D is just under justice as fairness it is necessary to determine whether D would be agreed in the original position. As this is a question of intergenerational justice, to ensure fairness between generations I stipulate that persons in the original position must want all previous generations to have followed whatever principal they agree governs the distribution of S over time. Persons in the original position know that under distribution D they will either have more than a fair share of S or none. Since there is a fixed amount of S to be distributed amongst a fixed number of persons, statistics tells us that, because of the veil of ignorance, the expected amount of S to be received by a person in the original position is the same under D as under a distribution that is more equitable between generations. However, given that a law of diminishing returns applies to S it is not rational for persons in the original position to risk the high cost of having no S for the lesser advantage of having extra S and so, other things being equal, it would not be rational for persons in the original position to agree to a principle governing the distribution of S that allowed distribution D.

The only constraint that Rawls's two principles of justice place on the distribution of S between non-contemporaneous generations is that enough is saved to develop and maintain a just basic structure. Since D provides enough S for the basic structure the two principles of justice permit D with no compensating advantage and so do not ensure a just distribution of critical capital S and therefore are insufficient to ensure sustainability.

Bell argues there is another way that political liberalism can ensure sustainability. As well as arguments based on the two principles, political liberalism allows political questions other than those concerning constitutional essentials and the basic liberties to be settled by voting on proposals supported by arguments based on comprehensive doctrines, so long as those proposals are consistent with the constitutional essentials and basic justice. As Bell puts it (Bell 2002: 707):

A Rawlsian state can legitimately make policy on the basis of comprehensive reasons that have won out in the democratic process.

Justice as fairness allows a society's government to provide public goods over and above those necessary for justice if a sufficiently large number of citizens agree. As Bell points out there is a significant difference in what counts as 'sufficiently large' between *A Theory of Justice* and Rawls later works. In *A Theory of Justice* near unanimity of citizens is required. Rawls writes (Rawls 1999a: 250): There is no more justification for using the state apparatus to compel some citizens to pay for unwanted benefits that others desire than there is to force them to reimburse others for their private expenses.

Later, in *Justice as Fairness: A Restatement* Rawls writes that a democratic vote is sufficient (Rawls 2001: 152 note 26):

For example, a bill may come before the legislature that allots public funds to preserve the beauty of nature in certain places (national parks and wilderness areas). Whilst some arguments in favour may rest on political values, [...] political liberalism with its idea of public reason does not rule out as a reason the beauty of nature as such or the good of wildlife achieved by protecting its habitat. With the constitutional essentials all firmly in place, these matters may appropriately be put to a vote.

So, as Bell argues, justice as fairness as revised in Rawls's later works allows a society to enforce environmental policies provided the necessary legislation is passed by the institutions of a just basic structure in accordance with the society's constitution. The legislature could pass laws that would, to the extent possible by a single society, forbid distribution D, or more generally, would support sustainability.<sup>17</sup> However, justice as fairness requires more than this. In justice as fairness questions of basic justice are to be settled by public reason alone without reference to comprehensive doctrines as is permitted in a democratic vote (Rawls 1993a: 224-5). Questions of basic justice include questions of basic distributive justice which includes questions of the regulation of economic inequalities (Rawls 1993a: 228). As justice as fairness is extended to address questions of intergenerational justice, questions of basic justice will include questions of distributive justice between generations which, according to Rawls, must be settled by public reason alone. It follows that sustainability conceived as a just distribution of critical capital over time is a question of basic justice between generations and so should be regulated by principles determined by public reason alone. It is therefore not sufficient to rely on a democratic process to ensure sustainability.

It may be objected that, as Ivison points out (1997: 141), Rawls wrote that many political questions 'for example [...] statutes protecting the environment and controlling

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Many environmental issues are global in nature. Addressing them requires international cooperation.
 Brian McBride 34 W9479728

pollution' (Rawls 1993a: 214) do not concern the constitutional essentials or questions of basic justice and so are not constrained to be settled by public reason alone. There is an important distinction between the principles of justice and the specifics of particular statutes. Whilst Rawls writes that specific statutes are not constrained to be settled by public reason alone, he also writes that the constitutional essentials and principles of basic justice are so constrained (Rawls 1993a: 214). Rawls writing that statutes need not be settled by public reason alone does not preclude principles of justice being determined by public reason alone.

As I wrote earlier, in justice as fairness the principles of justice are worked out in the original position, a constitution embodying these principles is designed at a constitutional convention, and laws are passed by a legislature that is constrained by that constitution. Rawls distinguishes between principles concerning constitutional essentials and principles The constitutional essentials consist of the concerning questions of basic justice. fundamental principles that specify the general structure of government and the equal basic rights of citizens (Rawls 1993a: 227-9). Compliance with the constitutional essentials may be determined through public reason by a supreme court (Rawls 1993a: 231-40). Gaining consensus on whether principles regulating the distribution of social and economic inequalities are complied with is harder, in part because, in addition to public reason, they call for difficult judgements. Rawls writes (1993a: 337) that experience suggests that these principles should not be embedded in the constitution. He suggests instead that effective representation of all citizens is a better means of ensuring just legislation. This raises the questions of whether and how future generations can be effectively represented in today's legislature and if they cannot what alternative means might be employed to ensure that the legislature respects principles of intergenerational distributive justice.

In this section I have argued that Rawls's justice as fairness as described in *A Theory of Justice* and his later works is insufficient to ensure sustainability. In the next section I discuss the restraint principle that might extend the principles of justice to address this issue.

# The Restraint Principle

In this section I describe the *restraint principle* proposed by Marcel Wissenburg as a green principle that would ensure sustainability and could be adopted by most forms of liberalism. I will argue that the restraint principle may be too restrictive and would not be agreed in the original position if a less restrictive alternative could be found.

The restraint principle is that (Wissenburg 1998: 123):

No goods shall be destroyed unless unavoidable and unless they are replaced by perfectly identical goods; if that is physically impossible, they should be replaced by equivalent goods resembling the original as closely as possible; and if that is also impossible, a proper compensation should be provided.

To interpret this principle we must understand what is meant by 'unavoidable'. To explain this Wissenburg uses the term 'rights' as 'a catch-all phrase to describe all (im)material goods distributed in society' (Wissenburg 2001: 24). He distinguishes between what he calls inalienable, unconditional, and conditional rights. Inalienable rights are those 'that make a subject out of an object', that is are necessary for a person to be a person. For example a person has an inalienable right to their brain. Unconditional rights are rights 'that subjects need to meet the basic standards of their plan of life', that is are necessary for a person to have a basic standard of living. For example the right to eat in order to live is an unconditional right. Conditional rights are 'rights to everything beyond this category of basic needs' (Wissenburg 1998: 115). Inalienable and unconditional rights take precedence over the restraint principle (Wissenburg 1998: 125). Because persons have an unconditional right to eat it is permissible to eat even the last food on earth in order to avoid starvation. According to the restraint principle destruction of goods is unavoidable if the destruction is necessary to exercise inalienable or unconditional rights. However, destruction of goods for the purpose of exercising conditional rights is avoidable and so forbidden by the restraint principle. The restraint principle prohibits destruction of goods

beyond that which is necessary for maintaining a basic standard of living and so the restraint principle would forbid distribution D of the previous section because the destruction of S that occurred in the first half of T was used to improve upon an already acceptable quality of life and so was not necessary.

A weakness of the restraint principle as stated by Wissenburg is that it does not distinguish sufficiently between the destruction of critical capital and non-critical capital. As I have interpreted it the restraint principle forbids all destruction of goods except that which is necessary to exercise inalienable or unconditional rights. It seems to me that this must be the correct interpretation of the principle as stated for if Wissenburg's intention was to allow destruction of goods that could be easily replaced it would have been a relatively simple matter to modify the expression of the principle as in, for example:

No goods shall be destroyed unless unavoidable *or* unless they are replaced by perfectly identical goods; [...]<sup>18</sup>

Is it necessary to forbid the avoidable destruction of goods that are easily replaced and where no harm is caused by their absence during the interval between their destruction and replacement? Through the destruction of such goods the ability of persons to achieve their plans of life may be enhanced and so it is not rational for persons in the original position to agree to the restraint principle as stated. We could imagine though, that the restraint principle might be reformulated to address this issue. A *modified restraint principle* would permit the destruction of easily replaceable resources, whilst forbidding the destruction of critical capital except where necessary for the exercise of rights which are either inalienable or unconditional. I will now argue that even this modified restraint principle places undesirable restrictions on the use of critical capital.

As discussed by Rawls, the subject of justice in justice as fairness is the basic structure of a single society where a society is understood as a 'cooperative venture for mutual advantage' (Rawls 1999a: 4). All persons in the original position are from a single society.

<sup>18</sup> The expression of the remaining parts of the principle would also require modification.

On the historical evidence so far, societies are not everlasting but tend to fail after a few hundred years. It is highly unlikely that a society following the modified restraint principle will exhaust any critical capital before it comes to an end. For example a simple agrarian society that uses only non-critical resources could respect the inalienable and unconditional rights of all its citizens indefinitely provided the population level did not grow too high and so it is highly unlikely that a society that respects the restraint principle will run out of critical capital before the society comes to an end.

It might be objected that this claim assumes an isolated society whereas real societies do not exist in isolation. To secure the inalienable and unconditional rights of their citizens they have to provide for defence against hostile acts by other societies. The development of a capability to defend against a technologically advanced aggressor might require considerable destruction of critical capital.

A reply to this objection is that Rawls intended justice as fairness to be extended to address questions of international justice, referring in earlier works to the *law of nations* (Rawls 1999a: 331) and in later works to the *law of peoples* (Rawls 1999b). He proposed that principles of international justice could be worked out in a second original position of representatives of peoples. Rawls argued that in this second original position, eight principles would be agreed including "peoples … have no right to instigate war for reasons other than self defence" (Rawls 1999b: 37). Thus, in ideal theory, persons in the original position need not be concerned by external threats.<sup>19</sup>

It could also be objected that it would be unjust for one society to consume an unfairly large amount of critical capital, impoverishing those who will live in societies that will exist after that society has ceased. A reply to this objection is to generalize the idea of international justice to inter-societal justice; that is justice between societies that are not contemporaneous. I suggest that justice as fairness could be extended to define fair

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Ideal Theory*, the primary focus of Rawls's writings, assumes 'that (nearly) everyone strictly complies with, and so abides by, the principles of justice' (Rawls 2001:13).

principles that define justice between non-contemporaneous societies and that these principles will fairly distribute non-critical capital amongst societies. Since a simple agrarian society need consume little or no critical capital, there is likely to be additional capital that such societies could, according to the principles of inter-societal justice, justly consume. The modified restraint principle forbids the consumption of this capital because that consumption is not necessary. It would not be rational for persons in the original position to forgo the consumption of this capital which could be used to further the life plans of citizens.

I have argued that persons in the original position know that their society will come to an end and that if they follow the modified restraint principle there may be critical capital left unused that they might justly have consumed. Such critical capital might have been used to further the life plans of citizens of the society. It would be rational therefore for persons in the original position to prefer to the modified restraint principle a principle that is just and allows greater consumption, if such a principle could be found. This hypothetical principle is the subject of the next chapter.

#### 4. THE FAIR CONSUMPTION PRINCIPLE

Previously I have suggested that sustainability is an issue of basic intergenerational justice. Therefore, according to justice as fairness, sustainability should be ensured by a principle that would be agreed in the original position. I have argued that consumption restrained only by Rawls's two principles of justice is not sufficiently constrained because it permits an unjust distribution of resources between generations. I have also argued that the modified restraint principal may be more constrained than necessary and so more constrained than persons in the original position would agree to. In this chapter I posit the existence of a *fair consumption principle* to regulate the distribution of critical capital between non-contemporaneous generations over time that would be agreed in the original position subject to the stipulation that all previous generations had followed it.

The fair consumption principle ensures sustainability because it addresses the question of the distribution of critical capital and because principles agreed in the original position are just. The fair consumption principle is to constrain consumption more than is done by Rawls's principles of justice alone and less than by the restraint principle.

Whilst I do not propose a full specification of the fair consumption principle, I suggest that it would have the following properties:

- a) It would favour the consumption of non-critical over critical capital; for example renewable over non-renewable resources.
- b) It would allow the consumption of critical capital so that persons could enjoy their basic liberties.
- c) It would forbid the consumption of resources, including consumption of critical capital, that resulted in damage to the basic structure at any time, unless damage to the basic structure is unavoidable in which case consumption that damages the basic structure is permitted provided the expected condition of the most disadvantaged persons over time is maximised.

d) It would allow the consumption of critical capital other than that required for enjoyment of the basic liberties or maintenance of the basic structure provided that consumption maximised the expected condition of the least well off at the time of, or later than, the time of consumption.

Where there is conflict between these properties, earlier properties take precedence over later ones.

Some notes on the nature and purpose of these properties are in order. Property a) ensures that critical capital is not destroyed when there is some alternative non-critical capital that might be consumed in its place. Property b) expresses a similar idea to that of Wissenburg's suggestion that maintaining inalienable and unconditional rights has priority over enjoying conditional rights. This property would ensure that it was permissible to eat, even at the cost of damaging the basic structure, if eating was necessary to avoid starving. I take inalienable and unconditional rights to be defined under justice as fairness by the constitutional essentials and basic liberties.

Property c) expresses an idea similar to that of the just savings principle and the priority of the basic structure in securing justice. The main clause of property c), which forbids consumption that damages the basic structure, is already implicit in Rawls's two principles of justice. Note however that property c) does not forbid all consumption that damages the basic structure. Circumstances might arise where damage to the basic structure cannot be avoided and deliberate actions that harm the basic structure of society may be taken to avoid greater harm. In such circumstances where different courses of action are possible, the question arises of how to choose between them. Property c) does not minimize harm to the basic structure, but instead minimises the expected harmful effects on persons. In keeping with justice as fairness and in a manner similar to the difference principle, the fair consumption principle does not minimize some measure of the harm to all persons but maximises the expected condition of the worst off persons over time. Property d) ensures that the fair consumption principle is a principle of intergenerational distributive justice. It regulates the consumption of critical capital that is not required for the development and maintenance the basic structure of society but which is used instead to further the life plans of citizens. Property d) allows consumption that would be disallowed by the modified restraint principle for it permits consumption to improve the condition of the least well off even though that consumption is not necessary. Further, recall from the previous chapter (p. 33) that Rawls two principles of justice permitted distribution D in which earlier generations consume more than their fair share of some critical capital, leaving subsequent generations worse off than the earlier generations. Property d) rules out this distribution because, other things being equal, distribution D fails to maximize the condition of the worst off. Therefore, property d) ensures that the fair consumption principle is less restrictive than the modified restraint principles of justice alone.

Property d) allows consumption as a form of investment. A few generations might be permitted to use up more than an equal share of a resource in limited supply, such as oil say, if such consumption were to lead to a more active economy that was able to invent and develop a more sustainable alternative such as fusion power that conferred greater benefits on succeeding generations than eking out the oil.

### **Objections Due to Uncertainty**

It may be objected that the fair consumption principle is not a suitable basis for the design of constitutions or specific policies because there is too much uncertainty associated with it. Property d) and the last clause of property c) require that whether or not some consumption of critical capital is just depends on whether some other consumption of that resource would improve the condition of the worst off over time. This information cannot generally be known with any certainty and therefore, it may be argued, the fair consumption principle has no place in justice as fairness which is intended to provide a philosophical foundation for actual societies.

There are two main sources of uncertainty affecting the fair consumption principle. The first is that it is uncertain which capital will be critical to future generations since capital that is currently critical may not be so in the future. As noted earlier when describing the difference principle (p. 24), persons in the original position will prefer certainty of justice over uncertain economic advantage. Therefore, since there is a possibility that capital that is critical now will remain critical in the future, capital that is critical now should be treated as if it will be critical in the future. There remains uncertainty about capital that is not critical now but may become so in the future.

The second main source of uncertainty is the uncertainty in determining the effects of a particular consumption or policy of consumption over time. To address this issue in part properties c) and d) are expressed in terms of the expected rather than the actual condition of persons. The question remains whether such expectations can be a suitable basis for deciding on policies of consumption. Some expectations provide reasonable guidance for policy. A good example can be found in *The Limits to Growth* (Meadows, Meadows et al. 1972) where, as mentioned earlier (p. 10) repeated computer simulations with different assumptions all lead to a similar outcome. The authors of *Limits to Growth* wrote:

The model we have constructed is, like every model, imperfect, oversimplified, and unfinished.

In spite of the preliminary state of our work, we believe it is important to publish the model and our findings now. (...) We feel that the model described here is already sufficiently developed to be of some use to decision-makers. Furthermore, the basic behaviour modes we have already observed in this model appear to be so fundamental and general that we do not expect our broad conclusions to be substantially altered by further revisions.

In spite of uncertainty, the authors believed that their predictions would be useful to policy makers and so it has turned out. Nevertheless, other uncertainties remain for we cannot know what we have still to learn about our planet. An example is the unexpected discovery that excess green house gasses in the atmosphere cause global warming.

Without this knowledge, steps taken to address the issues identified in *The Limits to Growth* could make conditions in the future worse rather than better if they caused more carbon dioxide to be added to the atmosphere. Further, there are limits to the precision with which future conditions can be estimated. Whilst the simulations reported in *The Limits to Growth* predict a general trend they cannot predict details with much precision. For example, they cannot predict how badly off future persons will be or which of two different policies will render future persons least worst off. It could be argued that property d) requires such accuracy.

There are two parts to my answer to this objection. The first is that the fair consumption principle is a valuable component of a conception of justice despite uncertainty because it defines an aim for a just society. The fair consumption principle provides a goal which is supportable by public reason and which governments of just societies should design their policies to achieve. Policies can be designed using human judgement and agreed through a legitimate political process as the best way to achieve this goal given the unavoidable uncertainty of predicting the future.

The second part of my answer is that whilst it is not always possible to determine whether a particular consumption or policy of consumption is necessarily best for the worst off, it can sometimes be known that one is definitely not. For example, distribution D discussed above, other things being equal, is definitely not best for the worst off, that is later generations. So the fair consumption principle can be used to forbid policies that are known to be unjust.

Finally, I note that Rawls accepts that principles of justice may be based on measures which are uncertain and subject to human judgement and interpretation, for in his discussion of the constitutional essentials (Rawls 1993a: 228-9) he argues that the difference principle should not be a constitutional essential because of uncertainty determining whether its standard has been achieved.

My conclusion from this discussion is that the fair consumption principle can be a valuable guide for policymakers despite the uncertainty of our predictions for the future.

## Alignment with Justice as Fairness and Political Liberalism

In this section I will begin a discussion of how well the fair consumption principle aligns with the core ideas of justice as fairness and political liberalism. These core ideas include society conceived as a system of cooperation for mutual advantage over time, the distinction between a political and a comprehensive conception, liberal legitimacy, and the idea of an overlapping consensus. In later sections I will discuss the acceptability of the fair consumption principle in the original position and the reasons why justice as fairness may be part of a stable conception of justice.

Justice as fairness is built on the idea of a society as a 'fair system of cooperation from one generation to the next between free and equal citizens' (Rawls 2001: 77). The idea of cooperation is important because the arguments that support justice as fairness are built in part on the assumption that it is in everyone's best interests to cooperate and so rational persons will do so. The fair consumption principle regulates behaviour between persons who are not contemporaneous and so it may be argued that they cannot cooperate with one another and so justice as fairness does not apply. However, by cooperation Rawls does not mean 'merely socially coordinated activity' but activity that is 'guided by publicly recognised rules and procedures'. A citizen who follows the rules of society can expect to benefit directly from the reciprocal actions of other citizens. Rawls specifies this idea of reciprocity as (Rawls 1993a: 16):

All who are engaged in cooperation and who do their part as the rules and procedure require, are to benefit in an appropriate way as assessed by a suitable benchmark of comparison.

Nothing in these concepts of cooperation or reciprocity requires that the participants be contemporaneous. All can benefit from the fair consumption principle in an appropriate way according to a benchmark and so it is a basis for reciprocity.

The phrase 'from one generation to the next' is also important because it suggests that whilst cooperation and reciprocity may be possible between non-contemporaneous persons the concept of society may be limited to be contemporaneous. However, we have seen previously that Rawls anticipated that justice as fairness could be extended to address issues of intergenerational justice (Rawls 1993a: 244) and that in his later justification of the just savings principle he showed how principles of intergenerational justice could be justified in the original position by stipulating that persons in the original position must want all previous generations to have adhered to principles agreed there. Thus the fact that the fair consumption principle is a principle of intergenerational justice is no barrier to the principle being compatible with Rawls's theory.

Another central idea of political liberalism is the idea of liberal legitimacy. The power of the state is coercive power. In a democracy that power is the power of its citizens as a collective body. Liberal legitimacy is the idea that the power of the state is only legitimate when it is exercised "In accordance with a constitution the essentials of which all citizens as free and equal may reasonably be expected to endorse in the light of principles and ideals acceptable to their common human reason" (Rawls 1993a: 137).

Rawls sets out to show that whilst it would not be possible for all citizens to conform to a single comprehensive doctrine without the illegitimate use of state power, it is possible to achieve a stable agreement on the basic structure of society, that is an agreement on the domain of the political amongst citizens with various and incompatible reasonable comprehensive doctrines. Rawls called such an agreement an overlapping consensus (Rawls 1993a: 15). In order to achieve an overlapping consensus the subject of the principles of justice must be restricted to the domain of the political and they must be neutral amongst the many reasonable comprehensive doctrines found in a democratic society. The question arises therefore, whether the subject of the fair consumption principle can be restricted to the basic structure and whether the principle is neutral amongst reasonable comprehensive doctrines. Let us examine each of the properties. Property a) is designed to reduce the risk that unexpected circumstances will result in a more unjust distribution of critical capital than is necessary. It encourages the husbanding of critical capital when it is possible to do so, so that if there is an unexpected shortage of critical capital, it is likely the shortfall will be less than it would have been without property a).

However it is unlikely that for any critical capital there is an exact non-critical substitute. Consider, for example, making a dining room table from easily replaceable pine wood or a rare hardwood from the Amazonian rainforest. Whilst the two tables may be functionally equivalent, there are at least aesthetic differences between them. Therefore it may be argued that since property a) restricts the aesthetic choices open to citizens its subject cannot be restricted to the basic structure.

A reply is that an overlapping consensus requires that the subject of a political principle be the basic structure but does not require that the principle has no effect outside the basic structure, for the basic structure has wide reaching effects on people's lives. For example, the difference principle affects the distribution of economic and social advantage and so has many effects on people's lives outside the domain of the political yet it is a political principle because its subject is the basic structure. Similarly, a principle with property a) can be political because its subject can be the basic structure.

The other three properties have topics that are appropriate for the institutions of the basic structure. Property b) concerns ensuring that citizens can enjoy their basic liberties. Property c) concerns developing and maintaining the basic structure itself. Property d) concerns distributive justice. Therefore a principle with all four properties can have the basic structure as subject.

Are these four properties neutral amongst reasonable comprehensive doctrines? It is important to clarify what kind of neutrality is necessary. Rawls distinguishes between three kinds of neutrality; procedural neutrality, neutrality of aim, and neutrality of effect (Rawls 1993a: 191-3). A procedure is neutral if it can be justified without reference to any moral values. Justice as fairness is a moral conception and is therefore not procedurally neutral. A principle has neutrality of effect if its effect is neither to advantage nor disadvantage any reasonable comprehensive doctrine. Rawls claims that neutrality of effect is impossible to achieve and is not required by political liberalism or justice as fairness (Rawls 1993a: 194). Justice as fairness as an example of political liberalism hopes to satisfy neutrality of aim which is that there should be no intent that a principle should advantage or disadvantage a particular reasonable comprehensive doctrine. As I have just discussed, the four properties of the fair consumption principle are designed to develop and maintain a just basic structure and are thus neutral in their aim.

Since it can have the basic structure as its subject and since its properties have neutrality of aim amongst reasonable comprehensive doctrines, the fair consumption principle can be a political principle.

## The Fair Consumption Principle in the Original Position

Without a fuller specification of the fair consumption principle, it is not possible to provide a complete argument that it would be agreed in the original position. However, I can present reasons why the properties of the fair consumption principle that I have described could be agreed in the original position and why a principle with these properties could be preferable to the modified restraint principle.

Considering the first of the four properties of the fair consumption principle, as I noted earlier (p. 43), whereas predictions based on general truths such as those in *The Limits to Growth* (Meadows, Meadows et al. 1972) can be reliable, it is not possible to predict the future consumption of critical capital accurately. Husbanding critical capital where possible is more likely to ensure that when there is an unexpected demand for critical capital that capital is available. Other things being equal, a person in the original position will agree to property a) because it reduces, at no significant cost, the risk to them of an inadequate supply of critical capital. As noted above, there is unlikely to be an exact

equivalence between the effect of consuming critical capital and a non-critical alternative. There may for example be aesthetic differences. Property a) states that consumption of non-critical capital is favoured over consumption of critical capital but makes no statement about the strength of that preference. It is a matter for further investigation whether the strength of the preference can be worked out in the original position or whether, in a manner similar to the schedule of payments for the just savings principle, the strength of the preference is a matter for the constitutional convention or later in the political process.

Property b) would be agreed by persons in the original position because they agree to the priority of basic liberties over regulating the distribution of economic and social inequalities (Rawls 2001: 46). Thus critical capital may be consumed as necessary to enable all citizens to enjoy their basic liberties.

Turning to property c), persons in the original position give priority to the basic liberties and a just basic structure is essential to their being able to enjoy the basic liberties. They will therefore forego the economic and social advantage resulting from consumption of critical capital that causes damage to the basic structure and thus will agree to property c).

The argument that supports property d) being agreed in the original position is that a principle with property d) is preferable to the available alternatives. Recall that property d) rules out distribution D. It is rational for persons in the original position to prefer a principle that rules out distribution D because those from later generations are considerably worse off than they would have been under an equitable distribution and it is irrational to risk such a condition for the marginal benefits gained by those in earlier generations. Property d) is also preferable to the modified restraint principle because it permits the consumption of resources to enable persons to achieve their plans of life without endangering persons' basic rights and liberties. This consumption would be prohibited by the modified restraint principle. This completes the argument that a fair consumption principle could be agreed in the original position.

### *The Fair Consumption Principle and Stability*

The final topic in this discussion of the compatibility of the fair consumption principle and Rawls theory of justice is the effect of adding that principle to the two principles of justice upon the arguments for the stability of a society whose basic structure conforms to justice as fairness. Rawls proposes three conditions for a stable constitutional regime (Rawls 2001: 115-6):

- 1. The basic rights and liberties of citizens must be fixed and given priority
- 2. It should specify a clear basis for public reason
- 3. It should encourage the cooperative virtues of political life

The fair consumption principle does not affect the fixing of citizens' basic rights and liberties and the four properties are arranged to ensure the priority of those rights and liberties so the first condition is still satisfied if the fair consumption principle is added to the two principles. Provided it can be expressed clearly, there is no reason why the fair consumption principle cannot be a clear basis for public reason.

Rawls states that his two principles encourage the cooperative virtues of political life in part by removing from political debate the most divisive issues such as the rights and basic liberties of citizens, and through providing a clear basis for public reason. They also encourage these virtues by incorporating 'the ideal of citizens as free and equal persons into public life' (Rawls 2001: 117).

The fair consumption principle does not undo the work of Rawls's principles of justice in removing contentious issues and providing a clear basis for public reason. In considering a question of intergenerational justice it extends the notion of citizens as free and equal persons to citizens who will live in the far future. Rawls also writes that the principle of reciprocity is crucial and, as we have seen earlier (p. 45), the fair consumption principle is reciprocal, as defined by Rawls, between present and future citizens. Therefore, the two principles of justice with the fair consumption principle added continue to promote the cooperative virtues of political life. So adding the fair consumption principle does not undermine Rawls's arguments for the stability of a society organized according to justice as fairness. Further, the stability of a society would be undermined if it did not support the fair consumption principle. Rawls writes that citizens develop the trust and confidence in the basic structure necessary for stability when others do their part in just or fair institutions (Rawls 2001: 196). The implication is that if citizens do not do their part in such institutions, the stability of their society is undermined. Therefore, if citizens recognize the justice of the fair consumption principle and fail to act in accordance with it, they undermine the stability of their society.

In this chapter I offered the fair consumption principle to regulate the distribution of critical capital between generations. I have defended it against objections that uncertainty renders it useless and argued that it is compatible with Rawls's justice as fairness. In the next chapter I will present the conclusion to this dissertation.

#### 5. CONCLUSION

I began with the observation that due to its unsustainable behaviour, the population of this planet is facing disaster. I set out to examine the extent to which the leading theory of liberalism, Rawls's justice as fairness, supports sustainable behaviour and to propose extensions should that be necessary.

In chapter 2 I argued that sustainability can be conceived as a just distribution of critical capital over time and is thus a topic of intergenerational justice. I also defended the concept of intergenerational justice against a number of objections.

In chapter 3 I examined Rawls's proposal of a just savings principle, a topic of intergenerational justice, and the arguments he deployed to support it. I examined the extent to which Rawls's two principles of justice provide for sustainability and agreed with Bell that they require at least that people not behave in a way that will result in the failure of the basic structure of society. I discussed Bell's assertion that Rawls's later writings such as *Political Liberalism* allow a society to enforce sustainable behaviour on its population subject to approval through the appropriate democratic process. I argued that this position is inadequate; that a just distribution of critical capital over time is a matter of basic justice and should constrain the actions of a democratic liberal state. I also discussed whether Wissenburg's restraint principle might extend Rawls's two principles of justice to ensure sustainability and concluded that the restraint principle may be more restrictive than is necessary and would not be agreed in the original position if a less restrictive principle that ensured sustainability were available.

In chapter 4 I posited the existence of a fair consumption principle that was less restrictive than the restraint principle but nevertheless ensured sustainability. I suggested four properties that principle might have. I argued that the fair consumption principle is consistent with Rawls's liberal theory, suggesting reasons why such a principle could be agreed in the original position and would not undermine Rawls's later arguments for the stability of a state conforming to the ideals of justice as fairness.

Brian McBride

Much remains to be done to understand the relationship between sustainability and Rawls's liberal theory. I offered only a brief sketch of some properties of the fair consumption principle. The implications of such a principle could be worked out in more detail which could reveal further properties it might have and how it might be more fully expressed. This might reveal whether a precise formulation in the original position is possible or whether, like the just savings principle, the details of the fair consumption principle can only be settled at a later stage of the constitutional process than the original position. It would be interesting to understand to what extent the fair consumption principle would satisfy those with varying green comprehensive doctrines and also to determine whether, together with Rawls's two principles of justice, it entails the precautionary principle (UN 1992: principle 15).<sup>20</sup> It would also be interesting to explore mechanisms for representing future persons in the democratic process.

The fair consumption principle can at best only be a part of integrating liberalism and sustainability. Two other significant areas could be addressed. The first is the question of population management for the greater the population the more consumption is necessary to sustain society (Rawls 1999b: 108). To what extent, under what circumstances, and how, if at all, can liberal societies regulate their population? The second is sustainability and international justice. Sustainability is a global problem; a single society cannot ensure sustainability on its own. Global warming, for example, is a threat to the entire planet, but is largely caused by the actions of a relative small number of societies. In the *Law of Peoples* Rawls extended justice as fairness to define principles of international justice. Further work could study whether these principles are sufficient to ensure the cooperation between states necessary for global sustainability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The precautionary principle states that where there are threats of serious or irreversible damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent environmental degradation.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Arneson, R. 2002. 'Equality' in *The Blackwell Guide to Social and Political Philosophy*, ed. by Simon, R., Oxford, Blackwell, pp. 85-105.
- Attfield, R. 1998. 'Environmental Ethics and Intergenerational Equity', Inquiry, 41, 207-22.
- Barry, B. 1999. 'Sustainability and Intergenerational Justice' in *Fairness and Futurity: Essays on Environmental Sustainability and Social Justice*, ed. by Dobson, A., Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 93-117,
- <<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/0198294891.001.0001</u>> [accessed 07 Feb 2006]. BBC 2005. *Climate Change: The big emitters*,

<hr/>

- Beckerman, W. 1999. 'Sustainable Development and Our Obligations to Future Generations' in *Fairness and Futurity - Essays on Environmental Sustainability and Social Justice*, ed. by Dobson, A., Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 71-92, <<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/0198294891.001.0001</u>> [accessed 08 April 2006].
- Beekman, V. 2004. 'Sustainable Development and Future Generations', *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 17, 3-22.
- Beetham, D. 1998. 'Legitimacy' in *Routledge Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Craig, E., London, Routledge, <<u>http://www.rep.routledge.com/article/S034</u>> [accessed 16 July 2006].
- Bell, D. 2002. 'How Can Political Liberals be Environmentalists', *Political Studies*, 50, 703-24.
- Brown, L. 2005. 'A Planet Under Stress' in *Debating the Earth*, ed. by Dryzek, J. S. and D. Schlosberg, 2nd edn, Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 37-48.
- Carter, A. 2001. 'Can we We Harm Future People', Environmental Values, 10, 429-54.
- Copeland, B. J. 1999. 'Arthur Prior' in *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Zalta, E. N., Winter 1999 edn,

<<u>http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win1999/entries/prior/</u>> [accessed 13 April 2006].

- de-Shalit, A. 2001. 'Is Liberalism Environment-Friendly?' in *Environmental Philosophy*, ed. by Zimmerman, M. E. and others, 3rd edn, New Jersey, Prentice Hall, pp. 403-22 (first publ. in *Social Theory and Practice*, 21 (1995), 287-314).
- Dobson, A. 1998. Justice and the Environment, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- ----- 2000. Green Political Thought, 3rd edn, London, Routledge.
- English, J. 1977. 'Justice between Generations', Philosophical Studies, 31, 91-104.
- Frankfurt, H. 1987. 'Equality as a Moral Ideal', Ethics, 98, 21-43.
- Galton, A. 2003. 'Temporal Logic' in *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Zalta, E. N., Winter 2003 edn, <<u>http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2003/entries/logic-temporal/></u>[accessed 13]

<<u>http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2003/entries/logic-temporal/</u>> [accessed 13 April 2006].

- Gosseries, A. 2005. 'The Egalitarian Case Against Brundtland's Sustainability', *GAIA*, 14, 40-6.
- Gray, J. 2004. 'A Report to the Academy' in Heresies, London, Granta, pp. 72-9.
- Hillman, M. 2004. How We Can Save the Planet, London, Penguin Books.
- Holland, A. 1999. 'Sustainability: Should We Start from Here?' in *Fairness and Futurity* -*Essays on Environmental Sustainability and Social Justice.*, ed. by Dobson, A., Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 46-68,

<<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/0198294891.001.0001</u>> [accessed 02 April 2006].

- IPCC. 2001. *Climate Change 2001: Synthesis Report Summary for Policymakers*, <<u>http://www.ipcc.ch/pub/un/syreng/spm.pdf</u>> [accessed 16 April 2006].
- Ivison, D. 1997. 'The Secret History of Public Reason: Hobbes to Rawls', *History of Political Thought*, 18, 125-47.

- Jacobs, M. 1999. 'Sustainable Development as a Contested Concept' in *Fairness and Futurity: Essays on Environmental Sustainability and Social Justice*, ed. by Dobson, A., Oxford, Oxford University Press, <<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/0198294891.001.0001</u> > [accessed 12 Feb 2006].
- Johnson, L. E. 2003. 'Future Generations and Contemporary Ethics', *Environmental Values*, 12, 471-87.
- Kavka, G. 1982. 'The Paradox of Future Individuals', *Philosophy & Public Affairs*, 11, 93-112.
- Lovelock, J. 2006. The Revenge of Gaia, London, Allen Lane.
- Lyons, D. 1972. 'Rawls Versus Utilitarianism', Journal of Philosophy, 69, 535-45.
- Markosian, N. 2002. 'Time' in *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Zalta, E. N., Winter 2002 edn, <<u>http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2002/entries/time/</u>> [accessed 13 April 2006].
- Marland, G., T. A. Boden and R. J. Andres 2005a. 'Global, Regional, and National CO2 Emissions' in *Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change*, Oak Ridge, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, <<u>http://cdiac.ornl.gov/trends/emis/tre\_glob.htm</u>> [accessed 13 May 2006].
- ----- 2005b. 'Global, Regional, and National CO2 Emissions' in *Trends: A Compendium of Data on Global Change*, Oak Ridge, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, <<u>http://cdiac.ornl.gov/trends/emis/tre\_coun.htm</u> > [accessed 13 May 2006].
- Meadows, D. H. and others 1972. *The Limits to Growth (short version)*, <<u>http://www.clubofrome.org/docs/limits.rtf</u>> [accessed 29 January 2006].
- Meyer, L. 2003. 'Intergenerational Justice' in *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Zalta, E. N., Summer 2003 edn, <<u>http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/sum2003/entries/justice-intergenerational/</u>> [accessed 18 Feb 2006].
- Paden, R. 1997. 'Rawls's Just Savings Principle and the Sense of Justice', *Social Theory and Practice*, 23, 27-51.
- Parfit, D. 1984. Reasons and Persons, Oxford, Clarendon Press.
- ----- 1986. 'Comments', Ethics, 96, 832-72.
- Partridge, E. 2002. 'The Future For Better or Worse', Environmental Values, 11, 75-85.
- Perrett, R. W. 2003. 'Future Generations and the Metaphysics of the Self: Western and Indian philosophical perspectives', *Asian Philosophy*, 13, 29-37.
- Pezzey, J. 1992. Sustainable Development Concepts: An Economic Analysis, Washington, DC, The World Bank, <<u>http://www-</u>wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/IW3P/IB/1999/10/21/0001
- 78830\_98101911160728/Rendered/PDF/multi\_page.pdf> [accessed 21 May 2006]. Rawls, J. 1971. *A Theory of Justice*, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- ----- 1993a. Political Liberalism, paperback edn, New York, Columbia University Press.
- ----- 1993b. 'The Law of Peoples', Critical Inquiry, 20, 36-68.
- ----- 1999a. A Theory of Justice, revised edn, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- ----- 1999b. *The Law of Peoples with the Idea of Public Reason Revisited*, Cambridge, Ma, Harvard University Press.
- ----- 2001. Justice as Fairness: A Restatement, London, Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.
- Rex, M. 1998. 'Rights' in *Routledge Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Craig, E., London, Routledge, <<u>http://www.rep.routledge.com/article/S054</u>> [accessed 29 April 2006].
- Schwartz, T. 1978. 'Obligations to Posterity' in *Obligations to Future Generations*, ed. by Sikora, R. I. and B. Barry, Philadelphia, Temple University Press, pp. 3-13.

- Simons, P. 1998. 'Identity of Indiscernibles' in *Routledge Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Craig, E., London, Routledge, <<u>http://www.rep.routledge.com/article/X016SECT1</u>> [accessed 03 September 2006].
- UN 1992. Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, <<u>http://www.un.org/documents/ga/conf151/aconf15126-1annex1.htm</u>> [accessed 19 July 2006].
- UNSD. 2005. Environmental Indicators: C0<sub>2</sub> Emissions, <<u>http://unstats.un.org/unsd/environment/air\_co2\_emissions.htm</u>> [accessed 22 May 2006].
- Venema, Y. 2001. 'Temporal Logic' in *The Blackwell Guide to Philosophical Logic*, ed. by Goble, L., Oxford, Blackwell, pp. 203-23.
- Wall, S. 2003. 'Just Savings and the Difference Principle', *Philosophical Studies*, 116, 79-102.
- WCED. 1987. Our Common Future, <<u>http://www.are.admin.ch/are/en/nachhaltig/international\_uno/unterseite02330/</u>> [accessed 11 Aug 2006].
- Weale, A. 1998. 'Welfare' in *Routledge Encyclopedia of Philosophy*, ed. by Craig, E., London, Routledge, <<u>http://www.rep.routledge.com/article/S067</u>> [accessed 29 April 2006].
- Wissenburg, M. 1998. Green liberalism: The free and green society, London, UCL Press.
- ----- 1999. 'An Extension of the Rawlsian Savings Principle to Liberal Theories of Justice in General' in *Fairness and Futurity: Essays on Environmental Sustainability and Social Justice*, ed. by Dobson, A., Oxford, Oxford University Press, pp. 173-198, <<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/0198294891.001.0001</u>> [accessed 29 May 2006].
- ----- 2001. 'Liberalism is Always Greener on the Other Side of the Mill: A Reply to Piers Stephens', *Environmental Politics*, 10, 23-42.
- Woodward, J. 1986. 'The Non-Identity Problem', Ethics, 96, 804-31.
- ----- 1987. 'Reply to Parfit', Ethics, 97, 800-16.
- Wright, R. 2005. A Short History of Progress, Edinburgh, Canongate.